# A ANNUAL REVIEWS

# Annual Review of Nutrition Is Food Addictive? A Review of the Science

# Ashley N. Gearhardt<sup>1</sup> and Erica M. Schulte<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Psychology, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, Michigan 48109, USA; email: agearhar@umich.edu

<sup>2</sup>Department of Psychiatry, Perelman School of Medicine, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19104, USA; email: erica.schulte@pennmedicine.upenn.edu

Annu. Rev. Nutr. 2021. 41:387-410

First published as a Review in Advance on June 21, 2021

The Annual Review of Nutrition is online at nutr.annualreviews.org

https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-nutr-110420-111710

Copyright © 2021 by Annual Reviews. All rights reserved

# ANNUAL CONNECT

#### www.annualreviews.org

- Download figures
- Navigate cited references
- Keyword search
- Explore related articles
- Share via email or social media

# **Keywords**

food addiction, substance-use disorders, food reward, obesity, overeating

# Abstract

As ultraprocessed foods (i.e., foods composed of mostly cheap industrial sources of dietary energy and nutrients plus additives) have become more abundant in our food supply, rates of obesity and diet-related disease have increased simultaneously. Food addiction has emerged as a phenotype of significant empirical interest within the past decade, conceptualized most commonly as a substance-based addiction to ultraprocessed foods. We detail (a) how approaches used to understand substance-use disorders may be applicable for operationalizing food addiction, (b) evidence for the reinforcing potential of ingredients in ultraprocessed foods that may drive compulsive consumptions, (c) the utility of conceptualizing food addiction as a substance-use disorder versus a behavioral addiction, and (d) clinical and policy implications that may follow if ultraprocessed foods exhibit an addictive potential. Broadly, the existing literature suggests biological and behavioral parallels between food addiction and substance addictions, with ultraprocessed foods high in both added fat and refined carbohydrates being most implicated in addictive-like eating. Future research priorities are also discussed, including the need for longitudinal studies and the potential negative impact of addictive ultraprocessed foods on children.

# Contents

INTRODUCTION	388
A Dietary Evolutionary Mismatch	389
Parallels with Addictive Drugs	390
IDENTIFYING AN ADDICTIVE PHENOTYPE IN EATING BEHAVIOR	392
Conceptualization of Addictive Disorders	392
Conceptualization and Assessment of Food Addiction	393
WHICH FOODS MAY BE ADDICTIVE?	395
Refined Carbohydrates	396
Fat	397
A Case for the Combination	397
Other Potential Contributors	398
A Note on Terminology	399
FOOD ADDICTION: A SUBSTANCE-USE DISORDER	
OR BEHAVIORAL ADDICTION?	400
CLINICAL AND POLICY IMPLICATIONS OF FOOD ADDICTION	401
Clinical Applications	401
Policy Implications	402
CONCLUSION	403

# INTRODUCTION

The modern food environment has changed rapidly in the last 50 years, with ultraprocessed foods becoming the dominant source of calories in the Western world (15, 116). Ultraprocessed foods are defined as industrial formulations made entirely or mostly from substances extracted from foods (oils, fats, sugar, starch, and proteins), derived from food constituents (hydrogenated fats and modified starch), or synthesized in laboratories from food substrates or other organic sources (flavor enhancers, colors, and several food additives used to make the product hyperpalatable) (83). Ultraprocessed foods include carbonated soft drinks, ice cream, chocolate, and potato chips (83). Although controversy exists over inconsistencies in the application of the ultraprocessed label (52), foods typically labeled as ultraprocessed are the main sources of refined carbohydrates (e.g., added sugar) and added fats in the modern diet (83, 116). Compared with minimally processed foods (e.g., fruits, vegetables, legumes), these ultraprocessed foods are also cheap, convenient, and heavily marketed. A significant increase in obesity and diet-related disease has accompanied the rising availability of ultraprocessed foods (95, 125). Diets that are marked by high levels of ultraprocessed food consumption are independently associated with a number of negative consequences, including accelerated heart aging, type 2 diabetes, and increased mortality (1). Thus, ultraprocessed foods have been a key factor in the rising global rates of obesity, diet-related disease, and poor health.

The ability to reduce obesity and diet-related disease in the face of this changing food environment has proven remarkably challenging. Public health campaigns that aim to educate the public about the negative health outcomes associated with ultraprocessed foods and to encourage consumption of minimally processed foods (such as fruits and vegetables) have failed to shift eating patterns in a meaningful way (67, 68). On an individual level, people express a strong desire to eat healthier and lose weight. Almost half of people in the United States attempt to lose weight in any given year, often by trying to shift their consumption from ultraprocessed to minimally processed foods (78). The weight-loss industry capitalizes on this desire, and in the United States the weight-loss market is now worth \$72 billion (76). Despite high levels of personal desire and available services from the weight-loss industry, the ability to make sustained improvements in dietary intake and weight loss can be very challenging (130). Over the long term, many individuals who have initial success will return to prior patterns of dietary intake and regain lost weight (84). Thus, in a modern food environment dominated by ultraprocessed food, overeating is extremely common, efforts to lose weight are challenging, and even successful attempts frequently result in relapse.

# A Dietary Evolutionary Mismatch

An evolutionary mismatch between human biology and the modern food environment is a likely contributor to difficulties with long-term weight management (see Figure 1 for a conceptual model). For the vast majority of human existence, one of the biggest threats to survival was famine. Calorie-dense foods (like fruits, nuts, and meats) were generally not abundantly available and were prone to conditions that would result in scarcity (e.g., weather changes, animal migration) (32). The reward and motivation systems of the brain appeared to evolve, in part, to optimize the likelihood that humans would obtain sufficient calories (64, 143). Intake of calorie-dense ingredients (e.g., sugar, fat) is effective in activating reward/motivation systems, including the endogenous opioid and mesolimbic dopaminergic pathways (20). This enhances the subjective pleasure of consuming foods that are calorie dense and enhances motivation to seek them out. The memory system (e.g., hippocampus) appears to more effectively encode and retain experiences associated with high-calorie foods and the mesolimbic dopaminergic system is more likely to activate at cues (e.g., smells, sights, locations) that have previously been paired with higher (relative to lower) calorie foods, which enhances motivation to seek out these foods (3, 22). Over time, the habit system can become engaged to automatically trigger the tendency to seek out these foods in response to cue exposure, which further streamlines efforts to pursue high-calorie foods (114). Gut hormones that signal caloric need and hunger (e.g., ghrelin, orexin) prime reward/motivation systems in the brain to be more reactive to high-calorie foods and related cues, which can motivate the intake



#### Figure 1

Conceptual model of the dietary evolutionary mismatch: adaptive evolutionary responses and evolutionary mismatch with modern food environment.

of sufficient calories during times of physiological need (13, 28). Stress hormones (e.g., cortisol) can also enhance the reactivity of reward/motivation systems to enhance desire for high-calorie foods, perhaps as a way to buffer against the threat of famine (112).

Thus, reward/motivation, memory, and habit systems of the brain were selected by evolutionary pressures to support the receipt of sufficient calories as efficiently as possible through high-calorie foods (64, 143). In contrast, excessive caloric intake was less of an evolutionary threat to survival, and systems designed to signal sufficient or excessive caloric intake were less essential. Gut hormones that signal higher levels of energy reserve (e.g., leptin) may diminish reward/motivation responses to high-calorie foods (36, 38), but these systems tend to be slower and weaker than those that motivate calorie seeking (143). Further, with repeated high levels of exposure, bodily systems can become resistant (e.g., leptin resistant) to the dampening effects of these hormones (86). Thus, the strong drive to attend to and consume high-calorie foods is coupled with significantly weaker signals to prevent excessive caloric intake.

Although human neural systems are primed to protect against caloric scarcity, the food environment has flipped these evolutionary advantages into risk factors. The most prevalent calorie-dense food options have changed from those such as fruits, nuts, and meats to ultraprocessed foods that have high levels of industrially sourced calorie-dense ingredients (e.g., high-fructose corn syrup, trans fats) (131). Interestingly, naturally occurring foods that are more calorically dense are typically either high in sugar (e.g., fruit) or high in fat (e.g., meat, nuts), but rarely are they high in both. In contrast, the ultraprocessed foods in the modern food environment are often composed of combinations of ingredients (e.g., white flour, sugar, fat) at levels typically not seen in nature (83). These high levels of refined carbohydrates and fats trigger metabolic signals (i.e., glucose oxidation and PPAR $\alpha$  activation), which send reinforcing signals to the brain that this food item is highly rewarding (113). This potent combination is further amplified by the addition of unnaturally high levels of sodium and other flavor enhancers and preservatives (39, 85). Compared with naturally occurring foods, ultraprocessed foods can have fiber, protein, and water removed during processing and texturizers can be used to soften the food (making it more likely to melt in the mouth and require less chewing) (25). This allows ultraprocessed foods to be consumed more rapidly and increases the speed with which highly rewarding ingredients, such as refined carbohydrates, are absorbed into the system. Thus, ultraprocessed foods are designed to optimize not only the magnitude of the reward signal in the brain through high doses of calorie-dense ingredients and additives but also the speed with which that reward is delivered (103).

# Parallels with Addictive Drugs

Table 1 describes the parallels between drugs of abuse and ultraprocessed foods.

The creation of addictive substances. Our food supply has undergone massive changes in the past 50 years so that we now have a food supply dominated by highly rewarding, ultraprocessed foods (1, 15). The consequences of these changes are not fully understood, but considering parallels with addictive substances (e.g., cigarettes, cannabis, alcoholic beverages, illicit drugs) may be informative. Humans create addictive substances by processing naturally occurring substances (e.g., fermenting fruits into wine, drying tobacco and cannabis leaves for cigarettes) into products with unnaturally high doses of reinforcing ingredients (e.g., ethanol, nicotine, tetrahydrocannabinol) that are effective at activating reward/motivation systems (133). These processed products are typically combined with other additives that further enhance their rewarding effects (e.g., added sugars in alcoholic beverages, menthol in cigarettes) and addictive potential (5). Similarly, ultraprocessed foods are created by combining processed ingredients (e.g., high-fructose corn syrup,

Table 1	<b>Parallels</b>	between	substance-use	disorders	and	food	addiction
---------	------------------	---------	---------------	-----------	-----	------	-----------

Topic	Evidence of parallel between substance-use disorders and food addiction
Substance	Drugs of abuse and ultraprocessed foods have been modified from their natural states to be highly
	reinforcing by increasing the dose of rewarding ingredients (e.g., nicotine, refined
	carbohydrates) and the rapidity by which they are delivered to the bodily systems.
	Like addictive drugs, ultraprocessed foods do not exist in nature and are not necessary for survival.
Individual risk factors	Personal risk factors for substance-use disorders and food addiction include a family history of
	addiction, cognitive control deficits, trauma exposure, and depression.
Environmental risk factors	Environmental risk factors that have increased negative public health consequences related to
	addictive substances are also driving excessive intake of ultraprocessed foods, such as low cost,
	high availability, and frequent marketing.
Behavioral symptoms	Shared symptoms have been observed across substance-use disorders and food addiction, including
	continued use despite negative consequences, cravings, and repeated unsuccessful attempts to cut
	down.
Neurobiological	Neuroimaging studies have demonstrated similar patterns of reward dysfunction and inhibitory
underpinnings	control deficits for those with symptoms of food addiction and substance-use disorders.

white flour) and additives (e.g., flavor enhancers) into novel products with unnaturally high levels of rewarding ingredients, such as refined carbohydrates and fat.

One of the most important factors in determining addictive potential is the speed with which the substance is absorbed by the body (14). Delivery mechanisms that lead to rapid absorption of the addictive ingredient, like smoking a cigarette, snorting cocaine, or quickly consuming a shot of liquor, all increase addictive potential (51). In contrast, slowing the absorption rate of an addictive substance can transform an addictive drug into a therapeutic medication, as is the case for slow-release nicotine patches that aid attempts to quit smoking and slow-release stimulant medications used to treat attention-deficit, hyperactivity disorder (71, 138). In parallel, the creation of ultraprocessed foods often includes the removal of ingredients, such as fiber, water, and protein, that slow the rate of absorption of rewarding ingredients (like sugar) into the system and the addition of ingredients (like texturizers) that increase how quickly the food can be consumed (25). Thus, as with addictive drugs, the speed with which rewarding ingredients are delivered and impact the body is increased in ultraprocessed foods.

In sum, the creation of addictive substances bears a striking resemblance to how ultraprocessed foods are created (103). As with addictive drugs, ultraprocessed foods are the result of processing naturally occurring substances (e.g., corn, animal fat) and refining them into evolutionarily novel substances with unnaturally high levels of rewarding ingredients. They are then combined with additives that further amplify their effects and are quickly consumed into the body in a way that increases their ability to rapidly and effectively activate reward/motivation systems in the brain (103).

**Necessity for survival.** Although ingredients in addictive drugs can have beneficial effects (e.g., increased energy, pain relief, reduced tension), consuming addictive drugs is not essential for survival. In other words, if one never consumes an addictive drug, survival would be possible. The reinforcing and compulsive nature of addictive drugs comes from their ability to activate to an unnaturally high degree the reward/motivation, memory, and habit systems that were optimized to enhance human survival (e.g., caloric intake, social affiliation, sexual intercourse) (132). The ability of addictive drugs to potently activate these systems can shift attention and drive away from life-sustaining behaviors and instead drive forward compulsive drug-seeking and drug-taking behavior that is detrimental to health and survival. Although ultraprocessed food provide calories, which are necessary for survival, they are typically calorie dense and nutrient poor (83). High levels of

ultraprocessed food intake are more strongly associate with obesity, diet-related disease, and early mortality than good health (1, 95). Thus, as with addictive drugs, ultraprocessed foods are not necessary for survival and excess consumption is implicated in poor health and preventable death. Of note, ultraprocessed foods may not need to be as potently rewarding as addictive drugs to begin to highjack reward/motivation systems and encourage excess consumption because these systems are already designed to encourage the intake of high-calorie foods (but not addictive drugs).

**Individual risk factors.** It is important to note that not all people who consume addictive drugs become addicted to them. For example, 90% of people consume alcohol over their lifetime, but only 14% develop an alcohol-use disorder (55). Even with illicit drugs like cocaine, a relatively small subset of users (20.9%) go on to become addicted (74). Thus, individual risk factors interact with the addictive potential of a substance to determine the likelihood that a specific individual will become addicted. Individual risk factors that increase a propensity for addiction include a family history of addiction, cognitive control difficulties, trauma exposure, and depression (74). As with addictive drugs, not all people who consume ultraprocessed foods struggle to control their intake. Many of the same individual risk factors that increase the risk for drug addiction (e.g., family history of addiction, cognitive control deficits, trauma exposure, depression) also increase the likelihood of excessive ultraprocessed food intake (81).

**Environmental contributors to harm.** Environmental factors associated with addictive substances also play an essential role. Addiction epidemics are driven not by drastic changes in individual risk factors but by changes in the environment (23). When addictive substances become cheap, easily accessible, heavily marketed, and socially acceptable to use, the prevalence of addictive responses to that substance will increase (23). It is clear that the same environmental factors that increase the public health consequences associated with addictive drugs are also contributing to excessive intake of ultraprocessed foods, including low cost, high availability, and frequent marketing (23).

In sum, the striking parallels between addictive drugs and ultraprocessed foods raise the provocative question of whether we have altered the foods that dominate our modern food environment in such a manner that they are capable of triggering addictive processes. If the addictive nature of ultraprocessed foods is an overlooked contributor to the rising rates of obesity, dietrelated disease, and the difficulty of achieving long-term weight loss, then important implications must be considered for both treatment and policy. In the following sections, we (a) discuss approaches to identifying an addictive phenotype in eating behavior and the associated clinically relevant outcomes of this phenotype, (b) consider the current evidence for which food characteristics are most likely contributing to an addictive response, (c) evaluate the implications of applying a substance versus a behavioral addiction framework to addictive eating, and (d) discuss clinical and policy implications.

# IDENTIFYING AN ADDICTIVE PHENOTYPE IN EATING BEHAVIOR Conceptualization of Addictive Disorders

It is worth briefly considering the evolving definition of how addictive disorders are conceptualized prior to considering how this framework may apply to problematic food intake. Historically, the addiction label was mostly applied to substances (e.g., alcohol, heroin) that clearly caused mind-altering intoxication and resulted in aversive physical symptoms when the drug was withdrawn (88). However, tobacco presented a challenge to this conceptualization of addiction, which resulted in considerable controversy up until the 2000s (120). The ingestion of tobacco results in no apparent intoxication syndrome. Individuals can effectively go about their day fulfilling necessary role obligations (e.g., driving a car, participating in child care) while having nicotine delivered rapidly to the brain through tobacco products. Although physical symptoms of withdrawal are relatively mild when tobacco intake is reduced, aversive psychological symptoms (e.g., irritability, anhedonia) often occur and can present a significant obstacle to quit attempts (6). Despite the differences between tobacco and other addictive drugs (e.g., lack of intoxication syndrome, mild physical withdrawal), it is clear that people exhibit addictive patterns of use (i.e., a diminished ability to control intake even in the face of significant consequences), and there is now scientific consensus that tobacco is a highly addictive substance. Like tobacco, ultraprocessed foods do not trigger intoxication and do not cause life-threatening physical withdrawal symptoms, but people are prone to compulsively consume them even in the face of significant negative consequences. Thus, the reconceptualization of addiction triggered by tobacco paves the way for the evaluation of the addictive potential of ultraprocessed foods.

# **Conceptualization and Assessment of Food Addiction**

Initial research into the conceptualization of food addiction relied on self-identification as being a chocoholic/carbohydrate craver or on weight status (e.g., obesity) (46). Both of these approaches have significant limitations. Self-identification with addiction-related terms may not map onto a clinically relevant addiction phenotype but may instead reflect the casual use of addiction terminology in society (e.g., shopaholic). Further, weight status likely results in both over- and underidentification of an addictive eating phenotype. Obesity is a heterogeneous condition that can result from a number of different pathways, including genetic disorders, medication side effects, and physical inactivity, that are not the result of addictive processes. Further, addictive eating may be present but not result in a higher body mass index (BMI) due to compensatory behaviors (e.g., purging, fasting, excessive exercise), which may lead to underidentification of addictive eating in normal weight samples.

In 2009, the Yale Food Addiction Scale (YFAS) was developed to move beyond these limitations by providing a validated tool to operationalize addictive eating through the application of the diagnostic criteria for substance-related addictive disorders to excessive food intake (46). As with other mental health conditions, there is not currently a valid or reliable biomarker of addiction. Instead, the diagnosis of substance-related addictive disorders relies on the presence of behavioral indicators that are associated with diminished control over consumption, continued use despite negative consequences, tolerance/withdrawal, craving, and impairment/distress (see **Table 2**) (6). The YFAS asks individuals to report on the presence of these diagnostic indicators in the context of their consumption of ultraprocessed foods, including sweets, salty snacks, and sugary drinks. The YFAS provides two scoring options: a continuous symptom count (based on summing the number of symptoms endorsed) and a so-called food addiction diagnosis, which is based on the diagnostic threshold for substance-related addictive disorders. Specifically, this food addiction diagnosis occurs on a continuum of mild (two to three symptoms), moderate (four to five symptoms), and severe (six or more symptoms). No singular symptom is required, but clinically significant impairment or distress should be present for this diagnosis (6).

The YFAS has gone through rigorous psychometric validation in a number of samples and has been found to have strong internal consistency, test-rest reliability, and convergent/ discriminant/incremental validity (80, 81). Measurement invariance testing has also found that the YFAS is psychometrically sound across different genders and races/ethnicities (24). Abbreviated versions of the YFAS (modified-YFAS and modified-YFAS 2.0) have also been developed and validated to provide briefer assessment options (42, 104). Developmentally appropriate

# Table 2 Descriptions of criteria for substance-use disorders in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of MentalDisorders (6)

Criteria	
number	Diagnostic criteria for substance-use disorders
1.	Substance taken in greater quantities and over a longer period of time than intended
2.	Persistent desire yet repeated unsuccessful attempts to quit using the substance
3.	Significant time spent obtaining the substance, using, and/or recovering from the effects of substance use
4.	Important social, occupational, or recreational activities given up or reduced due to substance use
5.	Use of substance despite knowledge of adverse physical/emotional consequences
6.	Tolerance (increase over time in the amount of substance use; decrease over time in desired affective experiences)
7.	Withdrawal symptoms when cutting down or abstaining from the substance and use of substance to relieve
	withdrawal symptoms
8.	Cravings for the substance
9.	Failure to fulfill role obligations due to substance use
10.	Substance use despite interpersonal or social consequences
11.	Substance use in physically hazardous situations (e.g., while operating vehicle)

versions have also been validated for assessing addictive eating in children (YFAS-Children) (49) and adolescents (dimensional YFAS 2.0-C) (102). The YFAS has been translated and validated in more than a dozen languages (e.g., Spanish, Chinese, Korean, Persian) to provide a foundation for global research on addictive eating (80, 81).

In the United States, the prevalence of food addiction based on the YFAS is akin to that of other legal drugs [15% for food addiction (81), 14% for alcohol-use disorders (55)]. There is mixed evidence on whether differences in YFAS food addiction based on gender and race/ethnicity exist (80, 81, 105). However, there is consistent evidence that food addiction is higher for individuals with obesity, with a 4.54 greater likelihood of meeting the YFAS food addiction cutoff (47). However, it is important to note that not all individuals with obesity exhibit an addictive eating phenotype; thus, elevated BMI is not a sufficient proxy for food addiction.

Food addiction is highest for individuals with binge-type eating disorders, with estimates being as high as 97% for those with bulimia nervosa (81). Despite these high endorsements rates, YFAS food addiction scores are still associated with a more severe clinical presentation in the context of other eating disorders, including greater impulsivity, emotion dysregulation, and more frequent binge-eating episodes (80, 81). Surprisingly, endorsement rates are also elevated in anorexia nervosa, which is indicated by excessive underconsumption of food. Food addiction prevalence in anorexia nervosa differs by anorexia subtype, with the restrictive subtype having lower levels (47%) than the binge-purge subtype (74%) (129). Thus, just as there is a subjective experience of binge eating in anorexia, there also appears to be a subjective experience of food addiction despite an objectively small amount of food consumption. However, food addiction (like subjective binge eating) appears to map onto a more severe disordered eating pathology in anorexia and may be clinically important. Further, approximately 50% of individuals who exhibit behaviors that reflect the YFAS food addiction diagnostic criteria do not have an existing eating disorder, yet they appear to be as clinically impaired as individuals with an existing eating disorder diagnosis (e.g., binge eating disorder) (45). Thus, YFAS food addiction may be capturing a phenotype of problematic eating that is not currently captured by existing eating disorder diagnoses and (with additional evaluation) could be considered for inclusion in the American Psychiatric Association's Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM) as a recognized mental disorder.

There is also evidence that factors implicated in addictive disorders are associated with YFAS food addiction (see Table 1). Greater cognitive control and emotion regulation difficulties, more intense cravings, higher levels of depression, and a greater likelihood of experiencing trauma are all associated with the presence of addictive disorders and YFAS food addiction (80, 81). Neuroimaging studies have also linked reward-related patterns associated with addictive disorders with YFAS scores. Even when controlling for BMI, YFAS scores in women are associated with greater reward-related activity (e.g., caudate, anterior cingulate cortex) in response to a highly palatable foods cue (e.g., picture of a milkshake) relative to a picture of a water glass (50). In a sample of women with obesity, those who met the criteria for YFAS food addiction (relative to those who did not) exhibited elevated responses in a region associated with cue-induced craving in substance-use disorder (i.e., superior frontal gyrus) for ultraprocessed food images and more robust, decreased activations for minimally processed food cues (110). YFAS scores are also associated with heighted connectivity in reward-related regions (i.e., ventral striatum, basolateral amygdala) when in a fasted state, which suggests that caloric deprivation may enhance a propensity toward addictive eating (29, 92). Differences in inhibitory control neural systems are also associated with YFAS food addiction. Higher YFAS scores in adult women are associated with lower activation in a neural region associated with inhibition (i.e., lateral orbitofrontal cortex) during consumption of a chocolate milkshake in the scanner (relative to a tasteless solution) (50). In adolescents, food addiction scores are associated with hypoactivation in the left middle temporal gyrus and left precuneus/left calcarine sulcus during an inhibitory control task (i.e., go/no-go task) (57). Thus, as with addictive disorders, YFAS food addiction appears to be associated with neural differences in reward and inhibitory control systems.

YFAS scores also appear to be clinically relevant. Although some studies have not found a link between YFAS scores and response to weight-loss treatments (80), a recent large-scale weight-loss treatment trial found that YFAS scores were the strongest psychosocial predictor of attrition and failure to lose weight (40). The literature is mixed regarding the predictive utility of presurgery YFAS scores for response to weight-loss surgery. However, studies have repeatedly found that weight-loss surgery does predict a reduction in YFAS food addiction symptoms (65). For some individuals, this reduction in food addiction symptoms may not be retained at later follow-up points (12-months postsurgery), and the presence of food addiction postsurgery is associated with poorer weight-loss, eating, and lifestyle behaviors (18). There has been less research on the predictive utility of YFAS scores in the treatment of disorder eating. One small study does suggest that pretreatment YFAS scores in bulimia nervosa do predict poorer response to a psychosocial treatment but are not related to attrition (59). An important future direction is the continued investigation of the clinical implications of food addiction and the possibility of developing tailored treatment to address this phenotype.

# WHICH FOODS MAY BE ADDICTIVE?

Although the term food addiction is used to reflect YFAS scores, it is clear that not all foods are equally likely to trigger an addictive response. Thus, to deepen our understanding of food addiction and inform clinical and policy implication, it is important to investigate what foods (and aspects of these foods) may be most addictive. Further, the YFAS conceptualizes food addiction as a substance-use disorder, which theorizes that an addictive agent in certain foods directly leads to the development of addictive-like eating behavior. With substance-use disorders, addiction develops when an individual with a predisposition uses an addictive substance. Importantly, if this susceptible person never interacts with an addictive drug, he or she would not develop a substance-use disorder. In parallel, while behavioral characteristics that may predispose an individual to food

addiction have been explored (e.g., impulsivity, emotion dysregulation), the identification of which ingredient or combination of ingredients in foods may be addictive is an essential component for the validity of the food addiction framework. This is also particularly important for addressing early critics of the food addiction construct who posit that it is inappropriate to call overeating an addiction since humans require food for survival (144).

In the past 5 years, a number of studies have used the YFAS or the concept of food addiction to evaluate which foods may exhibit an addictive potential. Schulte and colleagues (103) conducted the first systematic examination that identified the foods most closely associated with YFAS indicators of food addiction. Participants in the study first filled out the YFAS and then rated how likely they were to experience the types of eating problems described by the YFAS with 35 nutritionally diverse food items ranging in processing, caloric density, fat, sodium, carbohydrates, sugar, fiber, and protein (103). Ultraprocessed foods, which were defined as foods with added amounts of fat and/or refined carbohydrates (e.g., chocolate, chips, pizza) [also identified as group 4 in the NOVA classification system (83)], were consistently more associated with YFAS indicators than were naturally occurring, minimally processed foods (e.g., fruits, vegetables, lean protein). Notably, ultraprocessed foods were significantly more problematic for individuals who endorsed experiencing elevated YFAS symptoms of addictive-like eating, providing further support for the role of ultraprocessed foods in food addiction (103).

Paralleling findings from Schulte and colleagues (103), ultraprocessed foods have been identified as most implicated in YFAS indicators or perceived experiences of addictive-like eating by a number of self-report studies (34, 75, 91). Additionally, the consumption of ultraprocessed foods has been associated with subjective experiences of reward that have predicted the abuse liability of addictive substances, such as elevated craving, enjoyment, and satisfaction (108, 109). Relatedly, ultraprocessed foods are more commonly linked to behavioral features of addiction, such as increased loss of control eating and binge consumption (4, 128). These foods also appear to engage brain regions related to reward/motivation (e.g., dorsal striatum) in a similar manner as drugs of abuse (134–136). In summary, studies using self-report, behavioral, and neuroimaging methods have consistently concluded that ultraprocessed foods are the most likely to be associated with features of addiction. This is consistent with the parallels between the creation of ultraprocessed foods and addictive drugs reviewed above.

Thus, parallels exist between ultraprocessed foods and addictive drugs, which may explain why these foods are consistently more associated with addictive responses. However, one point of controversy in the literature is that ultraprocessed foods represent a class of foods and the specific ingredient or combination of ingredients that can be identified as the addictive agent has not yet been identified (58, 144). Comparing this with substance-use disorders, it would not be sufficient to say that alcoholic drinks are more likely than water to be associated with addictive responses; rather, studies revealed that ethanol is the addictive agent in alcoholic beverages that leads to problematic use. While no studies have yet systematically investigated the addictive properties of specific macronutrients, research in preclinical models and recent studies in humans may provide preliminary evidence into which ingredient(s) in ultraprocessed foods may be the addictive agent(s).

# **Refined Carbohydrates**

Refined carbohydrates include sugar and white flour, which are metabolized similarly in the body (63). The amount of refined carbohydrates in a food can be reflected in the food's glycemic index, which is a measure of the magnitude of postprandial glucose release (82). The rewarding properties of refined carbohydrates have been linked to variability in glucose following consumption, characterized by an acute postprandial spike followed by a delayed drop in blood glucose

below one's fasted level, which can trigger cravings to maintain consumption of these foods (122). This hypoglycemic state has been associated with greater activation in reward-related regions that encode the hedonic value of foods and motivate cravings, such as the striatum (73, 90). Further, the release of insulin that follows the consumption of refined carbohydrates has been found to interact with striatal dopamine in a way that heightens the rewarding nature of these foods and influences subsequent consumption (121). Thus, refined carbohydrates appear to alter reward-related physiological and metabolic responses in a manner that may directly perpetuate problematic overconsumption.

In preclinical studies, prolonged, intermittent consumption of sugar, a refined carbohydrate, has been associated with behavioral features of addiction, such as binge eating, increased intake over time suggestive of tolerance, and opiate-like withdrawal when removed from the diet (10, 11). Rats also exhibit downregulation in dopamine responsivity after a period of prolonged sugar consumption, suggestive of sensitization, and locomotor and/or consummatory cross-sensitization to amphetamine, cocaine, and alcohol (8, 9, 53). Neuroimaging studies in humans have observed that intake of ultraprocessed foods high in only refined carbohydrates seems to engage classic dopaminergic reward-related regions (e.g., striatum, insula) (118, 119) that are also responsive to substance use. Broadly, refined carbohydrates appear to activate neural circuitry that may directly motivate cravings and perpetuate consumption, and these foods have been associated with core features of addiction.

## Fat

While refined carbohydrates appear to modulate responses in dopaminergic reward regions (e.g., striatum) based on fluctuations in glucose, dietary fat has been more associated with rewarding somatosensory properties, such as texture, flavor, and taste (54, 139). Notably, the types of dietary fat most often found in ultraprocessed foods (e.g., saturated or trans fat) yield elevated reward responses compared with dietary fat most commonly present in naturally occurring foods (e.g., unsaturated) (16). Neuroimaging studies have found that ultraprocessed foods high in fat, but low in sugar, engage regions implicated in oral somatosensory reward (e.g., postcentral gyrus, Rolandic operculum) and encoding the hedonic properties of a reward (e.g., midorbitofrontal cortex) (54, 118, 119). Preference for and increased intake of high-fat foods have also been closely linked to stimulation of the  $\mu$ -opioid receptors within the ventral striatum, a region associated with liking for rewards (87, 141, 142). Thus, fat appears to play an important role for enhancing palatability and mouthfeel, especially in ultraprocessed foods.

Fat has also been implicated in behavioral indicators of addiction in preclinical models. Rats given prolonged, intermittent access to ultraprocessed foods high in only fat (e.g., shortening) will exhibit binge consumption and enhanced motivation for the food (7, 11). However, removal of fat from the diet does not produce the withdrawal-like symptoms observed upon removal of sugar (7, 11, 21). Although withdrawal is just one symptom of an addictive disorder and is not required for diagnosis, the present evidence suggests that refined carbohydrates such as sugar may be associated with more numerous indicators of addiction than dietary fat. As such, in ultraprocessed foods high in both fat and refined carbohydrates, dietary fat may serve a more ancillary role of enhancing the addictive potential of the refined carbohydrates by increasing palatability and recruiting a broader array of reward-related responses.

# A Case for the Combination

While there are some ultraprocessed foods that contain elevated amounts of only refined carbohydrates (e.g., gummy candy, soda, white bread) or only fat (e.g., cheese, bacon), the majority of ultraprocessed foods that have been most implicated in addictive-like eating have the combination of being high in both fat and refined carbohydrates, such as pastries, potato chips, pizza, cheeseburgers, French fries, and ice cream (34, 75, 91, 103). This is supported in preclinical models, demonstrating that consumption of ultraprocessed foods high in both fat and refined carbohydrates (e.g., Oreo cookies, M&Ms) leads to downregulation of dopamine receptors, binge eating, and willingness to obtain these foods despite negative consequences (e.g., foot shock) (62, 89). Interestingly, the combination of fat and refined carbohydrates does not exist in any naturally occurring foods, and thus these foods may have the highest possible dose of rewarding ingredients. In support of this hypothesis, a recent study by DiFeliceantonio and colleagues (35) examined neural responses to ultraprocessed food cues that were high in fat only, refined carbohydrates only, or both. Reward-related neural activation to the ultraprocessed food cues high in both fat and refined carbohydrates produced a supra-additive response that was greater than the sum of the activation for the ultraprocessed food cues high in only fat or only refined carbohydrates (35). Thus, the combination of refined carbohydrates and fat may be key to determining the addictive potential of ultraprocessed foods.

Although there is a clearly defined addictive agent in drugs of abuse (e.g., ethanol in alcohol, nicotine in cigarettes), these substances contain numerous ingredients, which also serve to elevate their reinforcing nature (5, 93). This explains why individuals with substance-use disorders do not use pure forms of their substance of choice (e.g., 100% ethanol) but rather formulations of the substance that have been carefully crafted to balance ideal proportions of the addictive agent with ingredients that enhance palatability and reduce adverse side effects (e.g., adding sugar to cigarettes reduces the harsh taste of nicotine) (127). With respect to ultraprocessed foods, it may be that there is a specific ingredient that seems to be the primary driver of the problematic responses, but the addictive potential is further elevated by the presence of other rewarding ingredients. For instance, perhaps refined carbohydrates are the addictive agent in ultraprocessed foods, given that they act on addictive-like dopaminergic systems, but fat enhances somatosensory reward and blunts the negative side effects of consuming large quantities of sugar (e.g., reducing glycemic index, blunting withdrawal responses) to create an ideal combination of these rewarding ingredients. Delineating the roles of various ingredients in ultraprocessed foods is an urgent next step in this line of research that will not only provide insight into the validity for the addictive potential of these foods but also inform targets for intervention and public policy initiatives.

# **Other Potential Contributors**

**Salt.** Cocores & Gold (26) introduced the salted food addiction hypothesis, which posits that salted foods act as mild opiate agonists in a manner that perpetuates overeating and obesity. Importantly, salt is an ingredient that is often added to ultraprocessed foods, co-occurring with fat and refined carbohydrates, such as pizza, potato chips, and French fries. These foods form the basis of the salted food addiction hypothesis, which makes it challenging to disentangle the role of salt compared with the known rewarding properties of fat and refined carbohydrates. Further, no prior studies have attempted to examine the unique behaviors associated with foods high in only salt, as has been done in preclinical studies isolating responses to fat and sugar. There are no ultraprocessed foods that are high in only salt, which may suggest that salt may contribute in a more complimentary manner to enhance the rewarding properties of ingredients such as fat or refined carbohydrates.

**Nonnutritive sweeteners.** Nonnutritive sweeteners, such as sucralose and aspartame, have a sweet taste higher than that of pure sucralose (sugar) but do not produce changes in glucose. These sweeteners appear to activate neural systems in a different manner than does sugar. Existing

research suggests that artificial sweeteners produce a partial activation of reward regions compared with sugar, since they tap into sensory and taste rewards associated with sweetness but do not engage postingestive dopaminergic reward processes because they lack the expected glucose (44, 79, 140). Thus, researchers have hypothesized that this incomplete reward response may fuel subsequent cravings for foods that contain added sugars in order to activate the postingestive component of reward (72, 140). In support, nonnutritive sweeteners have been associated with weight gain over time in prospective cohort studies (27, 43, 117), though it remains unknown whether greater consumption of nonnutritive sweeteners is a cause or consequence of weight gain. Further, while preliminary evidence suggests that rats exhibit binge consumption with saccharin, an artificial sweetener (2), to our knowledge no studies have examined addictive-like responses to nonnutritive sweeteners in humans, and this represents an area for further study.

Sensory and cognitive properties of food. There are numerous sensory and cognitive properties of ultraprocessed foods that may enhance their rewarding nature, such as palatability, olfactory cues, behavioral contexts, and learned associations of eating these foods during emotionally salient times (e.g., birthday cake). Studies using percutaneous endoscopic gastrostomy tubes for feeding (food directly put into stomach, bypassing mouth and esophagus) have observed significant weight loss among individuals with obesity (124), which may be partially attributed to reduced exposure to the hedonic properties of food associated with consumption.

Additional research may be beneficial for disentangling the roles of these sensory and cognitive characteristics in elevating the reinforcing nature of ultraprocessed foods. Importantly, the addictive potential of other substances (e.g., nicotine, alcohol) is also enhanced through rewarding sensory experiences, behavioral contexts (e.g., mood enhancement at social events), and learned associations. Thus, the contributions of these characteristics would be expected to interact with the addictive ingredient(s) identified in ultraprocessed foods rather than being the sole driving mechanisms perpetuating addictive-like consumption.

# A Note on Terminology

In the current review, we use the term ultraprocessed foods, which is based on the NOVA classification that focuses on foods that are composed of industrial sources of energy (e.g., high-fructose corn syrup, hydrogenated oils) and food additives (83). In our prior work, we have often used the term highly processed foods (103, 108, 109), which was operationalized by the presence of added refined carbohydrates and/or added fats. All the foods we have previously classified as highly processed (e.g., ice cream, cookies, pizza) would also qualify as ultraprocessed foods if they are created by the food industry (83). Yet, the highly processed label also recognizes that homemade versions of these products (e.g., homemade cookies) that are created through the use of processed ingredients (e.g., sugar, white flour) are also prone to be consumed in addictive ways. However, research that links a diet high in ultraprocessed foods with negative health consequences has increased rapidly over the last decade (31, 70, 125, 131). Thus, in the current review, we have chosen to adopt the term ultraprocessed foods for consistency with this growing literature. Other terms have also been used to refer to the types of foods that are more likely to be consumed in an addictive manner, including hyperpalatable (48, 91) or refined foods (61). In 2019, a data-driven approach for identifying hyperpalatable foods was proposed based on the presence of fat, simple sugars, carbohydrates, and sodium (39). The overlap between ultraprocessing based on the NOVA classification and the hyperpalatable classification is still unknown, as well as which term best reflects the types of foods that are consumed in an addictive manner. It is clear that all foods are not equally likely to be consumed addictively, particularly naturally occurring, minimally processed foods (e.g., fruits, vegetables, legumes) (103). Thus, the term food addiction needs further refinement. It will be important for a consistent term to be chosen to reduce confusion in the literature and to more specifically focus on what types of foods should be the focus of clinical and policy interventions. However, more research is needed to definitively settle on which term may be best (i.e., ultraprocessed food addiction versus highly processed food addiction versus hyper-palatable food addiction).

# FOOD ADDICTION: A SUBSTANCE-USE DISORDER OR BEHAVIORAL ADDICTION?

One of the major controversies surrounding the food addiction construct in the past 5 years is whether the framework is best conceptualized as a substance-use disorder or a behavioral addiction (58, 69, 106, 107). The key distinction between these two perspectives is whether there is an addictive agent within certain foods (e.g., ultraprocessed foods) that triggers biological and behavioral responses that directly perpetuate compulsive consumption (106, 107). From a behavioral addictions standpoint, addictive-like responses would be triggered by the act of food consumption, which would theoretically suggest that the characteristics of the food would not play a direct role in maintaining the problematic behavior.

Proponents of the behavioral addiction framework (58, 69) highlight that the conceptualization of food addiction based on the YFAS/YFAS 2.0 is based on observable behaviors (e.g., poor control over consumption, use despite negative consequences) and that addictive-like responses are elevated in specific behavioral contexts (e.g., intermittent access), thus suggesting the central role of the behaviors in the phenotype. However, the state of the literature, as described above, specifically points to ultraprocessed foods (or ingredients within these foods) being uniquely implicated in the biological (e.g., downregulation of dopamine receptors with prolonged consumption) and behavioral (e.g., binge eating, withdrawal) addictive-like responses, whereas minimally processed foods have demonstrated little association with these features (62, 89, 91, 97, 103, 108, 109, 142).

Importantly, a substance-based perspective emphasizing the addictive nature of ultraprocessed foods also acknowledges the importance of behaviors in diagnosing and enhancing addictive responses. In the fifth edition of the DSM, substance-use disorders are all diagnosed using 11 behavioral indicators that can be adapted based on individual features of the substance (e.g., withdrawal symptoms from alcohol differ from those for tobacco) (6). The YFAS 2.0 parallels this approach by using these same 11 behavioral indicators adapted for the unique characteristics of ultraprocessed foods.

Further, it is widely acknowledged that certain behavioral patterns of substance use can elevate the addictive potential of the substance, such as bingeing, intermittent access, and use to reduce negative affective states (19, 60, 66, 98, 111, 133). However, it is the addictive agent that interacts with these high-risk behavioral patterns to produce an addictive phenotype, given that engagement in the behaviors alone would not produce problematic responses in the absence of an addictive substance (e.g., binge drinking water would not promote compulsive use) (107). Similarly, animal models have demonstrated that intermittent access to and binge consumption of ultraprocessed foods promote addictive responses (e.g., enhanced motivation, use despite consequences) but this does not occur with the rats' nutritionally balanced chow (7, 9, 62, 89). Thus, the substance-based hypothesis of ultraprocessed foods is directly tied to an ingested addictive agent (e.g., fat, refined carbohydrates) that may be enhanced by high-risk behavioral circumstances.

The existing literature provides more support for a substance-based conceptualization of food addiction than a behavioral addiction perspective, given the specificity of ultraprocessed foods

being uniquely implicated in the phenotype. However, as discussed above, the identification of which ingredient(s) in ultraprocessed foods is the addictive agent is an immediate next step in validating the appropriateness of applying a substance-use disorder framework to food addiction. There are various perspectives about the empirical evidence necessary to convincingly confirm the addictive potential of ultraprocessed foods (or ingredients in them). Some researchers assert the addictive nature of these foods based on their ability to activate reward-related neural circuitry in a similar manner as drugs of abuse (134–136), though this has been criticized by others because natural rewards may also activate these regions (41). This has led to a greater focus on brain neuroplasticity, whereby prolonged consumption of substances has been found to change neural processes in a manner that directly perpetuates the addictive behaviors (94, 123)—a pattern not seen with natural rewards (e.g., listening to music, sex). This perspective not only focuses on the substance's ability to alter reward-related neural processes but also emphasizes the need for a behavioral presentation consistent with the diagnostic indicators of addiction, further differentiating addictive substances from natural rewards.

In many ways, these parallels exist with ultraprocessed foods. Prior studies have observed that compulsive consumption of these foods is associated with a change in neural response to food cues or consumption, shifting from the ventral striatum, associated with liking and enjoyment of a reward, to the dorsal striatum, implicated in cravings and enhanced motivation (30, 101). Notably, this pattern is also observed for studies following individuals who use substances recreationally but go on to develop a substance-use disorder (37, 137). This is coupled with the behavioral symptoms of food addiction operationalized by the YFAS at comparable levels with rates of alcohol- and nicotine-use disorders (105). Thus, prolonged consumption of ultraprocessed foods appears to trigger neuroplastic changes in the reward system observed with addictive drugs, coupled with an addictive-like behavioral phenotype, in some individuals.

Future research could strengthen the evidence for the addictive nature of ingredients within ultraprocessed foods by systematically observing neural changes over time. For instance, a tightly controlled inpatient study would be ideal for assessing reward responses before, during, and after repeated consumption of ultraprocessed foods high in fat, refined carbohydrates, or both. This approach would help differentiate which attributes of ultraprocessed foods may trigger addictionlike neuroplasticity. Behaviorally, a recent inpatient study exposed individuals of normal weight to a 2-week diet of ultraprocessed foods and a 2-week diet of minimally processed foods, matching the presentation of calories, sugar, fat, fiber, and macronutrients at each meal and snack (56). Individuals ate approximately 500 calories more per day and gained weight over 2 weeks when eating the ultraprocessed food diet, compared with the minimally processed diet, providing support for the direct role of ultraprocessed foods in perpetuating overeating (56). However, the authors acknowledge that the findings were unable to parse apart the roles of different ingredients in producing these changes or the biological underpinnings (e.g., changes in gut microbiome, hormones, metabolism), and these represent areas for future study. Further, this study did not investigate how exposure to these different dietary conditions impacted neural functioning, which is another important future direction.

# CLINICAL AND POLICY IMPLICATIONS OF FOOD ADDICTION

# **Clinical Applications**

Treatments for substance-use disorders are often conceptualized as helping patients achieve abstinence as the primary goal. However, there are numerous evidence-based treatments for substanceuse disorders that are not based on an abstinence model, such as harm reduction, mindfulness, and acceptance-based behavioral treatments (17, 77). These interventions are most commonly implemented for legal substances that are prevalent in mainstream social settings (e.g., alcohol) or produce limited intoxication effects (e.g., nicotine) (12, 77). Broadly, nonabstinence-oriented treatments for substance-use disorders take a more nuanced lens to understand specific substance and contextual triggers that elevate risk for problematic patterns of use. For example, an approach like harm reduction may be applied to a person with alcohol-use disorder by helping them identify that they are highly likely to overconsume alcohol when they are drinking hard liquor alone after a stressful day (high risk). In contrast, this person may rarely drink more than they intend to when they order a glass of wine at dinner with friends while in a positive mood (low risk). Thus, treatment would emphasize abstaining from high-risk situations, while permitting appropriate engagement with the addictive substance in low-risk contexts.

These treatment approaches may be similarly promising for addressing symptoms of ultraprocessed food addiction. Given the ample availability and accessibility of ultraprocessed foods globally, achieving complete abstinence is likely infeasible and unnecessary. Individuals have a wide array of taste preferences (e.g., salty versus sweet) and identified trigger foods and thus may be able to narrow the scope of which foods to reduce or cut out based on their personalized high-risk situations. For instance, paralleling the above example for harm reduction with alcohol, a person with ultraprocessed food addiction may experience addictive-like eating toward sweets (e.g., cookies, chocolate), particularly when eating them alone and/or in a negative affective state (high risk). Yet, this person may rarely experience symptoms of food addiction at a restaurant with friends sharing entrees that are partially composed of ultraprocessed foods (e.g., a sandwich on white bread, pasta with chicken) (low risk). Counseling would then focus on reducing the patient's exposure to high-risk situations and foods while keeping low-risk foods in one's diet to maximize food variety and the flexibility of this way of eating.

Harm reduction and other moderation-based approaches would be highly individualized to account for the specific ultraprocessed foods and environmental triggers that lead to addictivelike eating in each patient, which would circumvent the need to emphasize the extremely unlikely outcome of complete abstinence. Critiques of these treatments' potentials primarily relate to the possible rebound effect that may be observed when specific foods are overly restricted and any lapse triggers significant overconsumption (99). Thus, longitudinal approaches will be essential for systematically evaluating the efficacy of harm reduction compared with existing psychotherapies for overeating that do not restrict consumption of specific food items (e.g., cognitive-behavioral therapy for binge eating) among individuals with ultraprocessed food addiction.

## **Policy Implications**

Addictive substances also do not just negatively impact individuals with clinical levels of impairment; widespread subclinical levels of impairment also contribute significantly to public health concerns (100). Widespread subclinical problems are particularly problematic for public health when the addictive substance is legal, accessible, and socially acceptable (as with alcohol) (100). If ultraprocessed foods are addictive, focusing exclusively on clinical treatments is unlikely to address the widespread public health consequences associated with subclinical patterns of excessive intake. If ultraprocessed foods are capable of triggering enough of an addictive pull to result in excess consumption that is only a few hundred calories beyond daily caloric need, this would be sufficient to increase risk for obesity and related health problems.

One of the most important lessons learned from addiction is that education about the harms of a substance has minimal impact on the ability to reduce widespread risky use on its own (100). Although individuals deserve to be adequately informed about the risk associated with an addictive substance, this is not adequate to address public health concerns. The most effective approach to reducing problematic intake of addictive substances is policy interventions that aim to alter associated environmental factors. For example, in the context of tobacco, successful policy interventions have focused on raising the price of tobacco products, reducing the marketing of these products (particularly to children), restricting access by phasing out vending machines that administered tobacco products, reducing the ease of use by passing clean air laws that prevent indoor smoking, and restricting the addition of certain flavor enhancers to nicotine products (in the context of vaping) (23). Environmental approaches have been used to a lesser extent in the domain of alcohol, but some states do have rigorous policies that restrict access through zoning requirements to limit bars/liquor stores (particularly around schools), add taxes to increase prices, and limit the sale to certain times of day or certain government-run establishments (100). These types of policies also move the narrative away from a primary focus on the personal responsibility of the individual and target industry practices that facilitate, encourage, and profit from excessive consumption.

Similar environmental-based policies could also be used to reduce the negative public health impact of ultraprocessed foods. In the United States, the early evidence on the impact of taxing sugar-sweetened beverages to reduce intake is promising (96). Other countries are taking a more forceful approach to passing policies to combat obesity. For example, Chile has banned the sale of foods that do not meet strict nutrition requirements in schools and has mandates that prevent child-directed marketing, which have reduced intake of unhealthy foods (at least in the short term) (126). The focus on protecting children with policy is extremely important. Even if ultraprocessed foods have a weaker addictive potential than other addictive drugs, most individuals are not exposed to addictive drugs (such as alcohol, cigarettes, and cannabis) until adolescence/early adulthood. In contrast, frequent exposure to ultraprocessed foods occurs very early in childhood (33). Given the vulnerability of the developing brain, protecting children from the addictive effects of ultraprocessed foods should be a key policy initiative. Thus, while no one policy will be sufficient to address the rising rates of obesity and improve the modern food environment, approaches that aim to increase the price, reduce access, and limit marketing of ultraprocessed foods (particularly to children) are likely part of the solution.

However, the use of policy strategies to protect the public against the addictive potential of ultraprocessed foods may be even more pressing than for other addictive substances. We all have to take in calories to survive. There is no option to completely abstain from food intake. Yet, in under-resourced communities, the vast majority of food options are potentially addictive ultraprocessed foods (31). Outlets that serve ultraprocessed foods (such as fast food restaurants and small convenience stores) swamp the presence of outlets that provide access to more nutritious, minimally processed options in poorer communities and communities of color (31). Companies also stock more ultraprocessed foods in their stores in poorer (relative to more affluent) communities, and promotions for ultraprocessed foods increase on days when individuals who receive government assistance are more likely to shop due to the receipt of benefits (115). Thus, if ultraprocessed foods are addictive, there are major issues of racial and social justice associated with the radically different food environments people operate in based on their socioeconomic status and the color of their skin.

# CONCLUSION

In conclusion, ultraprocessed foods now dominate our food environment and are strongly implicated in rising rates of obesity and diet-related disease. Ultraprocessed foods are created in ways that parallel the development of addictive drugs, including the inclusion of an unnaturally high dose of rewarding ingredients that are rapidly absorbed into the system and enhanced through additives. As with addictive drugs, some (but not all) individuals exhibit an addictive pattern of consumption marked by diminished control over intake, intense cravings, and an inability to cut down despite negative consequences. The YFAS provides a psychometrically sound tool to investigate addictive eating, and higher YFAS scores are associated with mechanisms implicated in addictive disorders and poorer clinical outcomes. Identifying the specific components of foods that most contribute to addictive eating, with high levels of rapidly absorbed carbohydrates, fat, and a combination of the two being a likely factor, is an important area of future study. Novel clinical approaches from the addiction field may be useful in addressing addictive eating, particularly harm-reduction approaches that do not require abstinence. However, considering the public policy initiatives that have been used for addictive drugs, policy approaches that aim to alter environmental factors associated with ultraprocessed foods will be essential in reducing public health consequences.

# **FUTURE ISSUES**

- 1. Identification of the ingredient(s) in ultraprocessed foods that elevate their addictive potential is an essential next step in establishing the validity of food addiction.
- Studies are needed to understand how greater food addiction symptoms relate to longitudinal outcomes in existing evidence-based weight-loss treatments.
- 3. The integration of interventions for substance addictions, such as harm reduction, may warrant investigation for the treatment of food addiction.
- 4. There is a need to evaluate the interpretation of the Yale Food Addiction Scale in the context of existing eating disorders, in order to elucidate the possibility of subjective versus objective addictive-like eating behavior.
- Further research is needed on whether ultraprocessed foods are triggering addictive responses in children.
- 6. If ultraprocessed foods are classified as addictive, it is essential to consider the social justice implications for under-resourced communities and communities of color.
- The application of public policy initiatives that have been effective in reducing the impact of addictive substances should be evaluated in the context of ultraprocessed foods.

## **DISCLOSURE STATEMENT**

The authors are not aware of any affiliations, memberships, funding, or financial holdings that might be perceived as affecting the objectivity of this review.

## LITERATURE CITED

- 1. Adams J, Hofman K, Moubarac J-C, Thow AM. 2020. Public health response to ultra-processed food and drinks. *BMJ* 369:m2391
- Alcaraz-Iborra M, Carvajal F, Lerma-Cabrera JM, Valor LM, Cubero I. 2014. Binge-like consumption of caloric and non-caloric palatable substances in ad libitum-fed C57BL/6J mice: pharmacological and molecular evidence of orexin involvement. *Behav. Brain Res.* 272:93–99
- Allan K, Allan JL. 2013. An obesogenic bias in women's spatial memory for high calorie snack food. *Appetite* 67:99–104
- Allison S, Timmerman GM. 2007. Anatomy of a binge: food environment and characteristics of nonpurge binge episodes. *Eat. Behav.* 8:31–38

- Alpert HR, Agaku IT, Connolly GN. 2016. A study of pyrazines in cigarettes and how additives might be used to enhance tobacco addiction. *Tob. Control* 25:444–50
- 6. Am. Psychiatr. Assoc. 2013. *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*. Arlington, VA: American Psychiatric Publishing. 5th ed.
- 7. Avena NM, Bocarsly ME, Hoebel BG. 2012. Animal models of sugar and fat bingeing: relationship to food addiction and increased body weight. *Methods Mol. Biol.* 829:351–65
- 8. Avena NM, Carrillo CA, Needham L, Leibowitz SF, Hoebel BG. 2004. Sugar-dependent rats show enhanced intake of unsweetened ethanol. *Alcohol* 34:203–9
- 9. Avena NM, Hoebel BG. 2003. A diet promoting sugar dependency causes behavioral cross-sensitization to a low dose of amphetamine. *Neuroscience* 122:17–20
- 10. Avena NM, Rada P, Hoebel BG. 2008. Evidence for sugar addiction: behavioral and neurochemical effects of intermittent, excessive sugar intake. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 32:20-39
- Avena NM, Rada P, Hoebel BG. 2009. Sugar and fat bingeing have notable differences in addictive-like behavior. *J. Nutr.* 139:623–28
- 12. Baer JS, Murch HB. 1998. Harm reduction, nicotine, and smoking. In *Harm Reduction: Pragmatic Strate*gies for Managing High-Risk Behaviors, ed. GA Marlatt, pp. 122–44. New York: Guilford Press
- Baimel C, Lau BK, Qiao M, Borgland SL. 2017. Projection-target-defined effects of orexin and dynorphin on VTA dopamine neurons. *Cell Rep.* 18:1346–55
- 14. Balyan R, Hahn D, Huang H, Chidambaran V. 2020. Pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic considerations in developing a response to the opioid epidemic. *Expert Opin. Drug Metab. Toxicol.* 16:125–41
- Baraldi LG, Steele EM, Canella DS, Monteiro CA. 2018. Consumption of ultra-processed foods and associated sociodemographic factors in the USA between 2007 and 2012: evidence from a nationally representative cross-sectional study. *BMJ Open* 8:e020574
- Barnes CN, Wallace CW, Jacobowitz BS, Fordahl SC. 2020. Reduced phasic dopamine release and slowed dopamine uptake occur in the nucleus accumbens after a diet high in saturated but not unsaturated fat. *Nutr. Neurosci.* https://doi.org/10.1080/1028415X.2019.1707421
- 17. Bayles C. 2014. Using mindfulness in a harm reduction approach to substance abuse treatment: a literature review. Int. J. Behav. Consultation Ther. 9:22–25
- Ben-Porat T, Weiss R, Sherf-Dagan S, Rottenstreich A, Kaluti D, et al. 2020. Food addiction and binge eating during one year following sleeve gastrectomy: prevalence and implications for postoperative outcomes. *Obes. Surg.* 31:603–11
- 19. Berridge KC. 1996. Food reward: brain substrates of wanting and liking. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 20:1-25
- Berridge KC, Ho C-Y, Richard JM, DiFeliceantonio AG. 2010. The tempted brain eats: pleasure and desire circuits in obesity and eating disorders. *Brain Res.* 1350:43–64
- Bocarsly ME, Berner LA, Hoebel BG, Avena NM. 2011. Rats that binge eat fat-rich food do not show somatic signs or anxiety associated with opiate-like withdrawal: implications for nutrient-specific food addiction behaviors. *Physiol. Behav.* 104:865–72
- Boswell RG, Kober H. 2016. Food cue reactivity and craving predict eating and weight gain: a metaanalytic review. Obes. Rev. 17:159–77
- Brownell KD, Warner KE. 2009. The perils of ignoring history: Big Tobacco played dirty and millions died. How similar is Big Food? *Milbank Q*. 87:259–94
- Carr MM, Catak PD, Pejsa-Reitz MC, Saules KK, Gearhardt AN. 2017. Measurement invariance of the Yale Food Addiction Scale 2.0 across gender and racial groups. *Psychol. Assess.* 29:1044–52
- Chan PNA. 2015. Chemical properties and applications of food additives: flavor, sweeteners, food colors, and texturizers. In *Handbook of Food Chemistry*, ed. PCK Cheung, BM Mehta, pp. 101–29. Berlin: Springer
- 26. Cocores JA, Gold MS. 2009. The Salted Food Addiction Hypothesis may explain overeating and the obesity epidemic. *Med. Hypotheses* 73:892–99
- 27. Colditz GA, Willett WC, Stampfer MJ, London SJ, Segal MR, Speizer FE. 1990. Patterns of weight change and their relation to diet in a cohort of healthy women. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 51:1100–5
- Cone JJ, McCutcheon JE, Roitman MF. 2014. Ghrelin acts as an interface between physiological state and phasic dopamine signaling. J. Neurosci. 34:4905–13
- Contreras-Rodriguez O, Burrows T, Pursey KM, Stanwell P, Parkes L, et al. 2019. Food addiction linked to changes in ventral striatum functional connectivity between fasting and satiety. *Appetite* 133:18–23

- Contreras-Rodriguez O, Martin-Perez C, Vilar-Lopez R, Verdejo-Garcia A. 2017. Ventral and dorsal striatum networks in obesity: link to food craving and weight gain. *Biol. Psychiatry* 81:789–96
- Cooksey-Stowers K, Schwartz MB, Brownell KD. 2017. Food swamps predict obesity rates better than food deserts in the United States. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 14:1366
- Cordain L, Eaton SB, Sebastian A, Mann N, Lindeberg S, et al. 2005. Origins and evolution of the Western diet: health implications for the 21st century. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 81:341–54
- Cornwell B, Villamor E, Mora-Plazas M, Marin C, Monteiro CA, Baylin A. 2018. Processed and ultraprocessed foods are associated with lower-quality nutrient profiles in children from Colombia. *Public Health Nutr.* 21:142–47
- Curtis C, Davis C. 2014. A qualitative study of binge eating and obesity from an addiction perspective. *Eat. Disord.* 22:19–32
- DiFeliceantonio AG, Coppin G, Rigoux L, Edwin Thanarajah S, Dagher A, et al. 2018. Supra-additive effects of combining fat and carbohydrate on food reward. *Cell Metab.* 28(1):33–44.e3
- Domingos AI, Vaynshteyn J, Voss HU, Ren X, Gradinaru V, et al. 2011. Leptin regulates the reward value of nutrient. *Nat. Neurosci.* 14:1562–68
- Everitt BJ, Robbins TW. 2013. From the ventral to the dorsal striatum: devolving views of their roles in drug addiction. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 37:1946–54
- Farooqi IS, Bullmore E, Keogh J, Gillard J, O'Rahilly S, Fletcher PC. 2007. Leptin regulates striatal regions and human eating behavior. *Science* 317(5843):1355
- Fazzino TL, Rohde K, Sullivan DK. 2019. Hyper-palatable foods: development of a quantitative definition and application to the US food system database. *Obesity* 27:1761–68
- Fielding-Singh P, Patel ML, King AC, Gardner CD. 2019. Baseline psychosocial and demographic factors associated with study attrition and 12-month weight gain in the DIETFITS trial. *Obesity* 27:1997– 2004
- 41. Fletcher PC, Kenny PJ. 2018. Food addiction: a valid concept? Neuropsychopharmacology 43:2506-13
- Flint AJ, Gearhardt AN, Corbin WR, Brownell KD, Field AE, Rimm EB. 2014. Food-addiction scale measurement in 2 cohorts of middle-aged and older women. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 99:578–86
- Fowler SP, Williams K, Resendez RG, Hunt KJ, Hazuda HP, Stern MP. 2008. Fueling the obesity epidemic? Artificially sweetened beverage use and long-term weight gain. *Obesity* 16:1894–900
- Frank GK, Oberndorfer TA, Simmons AN, Paulus MP, Fudge JL, et al. 2008. Sucrose activates human taste pathways differently from artificial sweetener. *Neuroimage* 39:1559–69
- Gearhardt AN, Boswell RG, White MA. 2014. The association of "food addiction" with disordered eating and body mass index. *Eat. Behav.* 15:427–33
- Gearhardt AN, Corbin WR, Brownell KD. 2009. Preliminary validation of the Yale Food Addiction Scale. Appetite 52:430–36
- Gearhardt AN, Corbin WR, Brownell KD. 2016. Development of the Yale Food Addiction Scale Version 2.0. Psychol. Addict. Behav. 30:113–21
- Gearhardt AN, Davis C, Kuschner R, Brownell KD. 2011. The addiction potential of hyperpalatable foods. *Curr: Drug Abuse Rev.* 4:140–45
- Gearhardt AN, Roberto CA, Seamans MJ, Corbin WR, Brownell KD. 2013. Preliminary validation of the Yale Food Addiction Scale for children. *Eat. Behav.* 14:508–12
- Gearhardt AN, Yokum S, Orr PT, Stice E, Corbin WR, Brownell KD. 2011. Neural correlates of food addiction. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 68:808–16
- Gholap VV, Kosmider L, Golshahi L, Halquist MS. 2020. Nicotine forms: Why and how do they matter in nicotine delivery from electronic cigarettes? *Expert Opin. Drug Deliv.* 17(12):1727–36
- 52. Gibney MJ. 2019. Ultra-processed foods: definitions and policy issues. Curr. Dev. Nutr. 3:nzy077
- 53. Gosnell BA. 2005. Sucrose intake enhances behavioral sensitization produced by cocaine. *Brain Res.* 1031:194–201
- Grabenhorst F, Rolls ET, Parris BA, d'Souza AA. 2009. How the brain represents the reward value of fat in the mouth. *Cereb. Cortex* 20:1082–91
- Grant BF, Goldstein RB, Saha TD, Chou SP, Jung J, et al. 2015. Epidemiology of DSM-5 alcohol use disorder: results from the National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions III. *JAMA Psychiatry* 72:757–66

- Hall KD, Ayuketah A, Brychta R, Cai H, Cassimatis T, et al. 2019. Ultra-processed diets cause excess calorie intake and weight gain: an inpatient randomized controlled trial of *ad libitum* food intake. *Cell Metab.* 30(1):67–77.e3
- Hardee JE, Phaneuf C, Cope L, Zucker R, Gearhardt A, Heitzeg MJA. 2020. Neural correlates of inhibitory control in youth with symptoms of food addiction. *Appetite* 148:104578
- Hebebrand J, Albayrak O, Adan R, Antel J, Dieguez C, et al. 2014. "Eating addiction", rather than "food addiction", better captures addictive-like eating behavior. *Neurosci. Biobebav. Rev.* 47:295–306
- Hilker I, Sánchez I, Steward T, Jiménez-Murcia S, Granero R, et al. 2016. Food addiction in bulimia nervosa: clinical correlates and association with response to a brief psychoeducational intervention. *Eur: Eat. Disord. Rev.* 24:482–88
- Hwa LS, Chu A, Levinson SA, Kayyali TM, DeBold JF, Miczek KA. 2011. Persistent escalation of alcohol drinking in C57BL/6J mice with intermittent access to 20% ethanol. *Alcohol Clin. Exp. Res.* 35:1938–47
- Ifland JR, Preuss HG, Marcus MT, Rourke KM, Taylor WC, et al. 2009. Refined food addiction: a classic substance use disorder. *Med. Hypotheses* 72:518–26
- Johnson PM, Kenny PJ. 2010. Dopamine D2 receptors in addiction-like reward dysfunction and compulsive eating in obese rats. *Nat. Neurosci.* 13:635–41
- Karger L, Yamamoto C. 2008. Metabolic syndrome. *Healthy Beginnings*, July 3. https://hbmag.com/ metabolic-syndrome/
- Kelley AE, Baldo BA, Pratt WE, Will MJ. 2005. Corticostriatal-hypothalamic circuitry and food motivation: integration of energy, action and reward. *J. Physiol. Behav.* 86:773–95
- Koball AM, Ames G, Goetze RE, Grothe K. 2020. Bariatric surgery as a treatment for food addiction? A review of the literature. *Curr. Addict. Rep.* 7:1–8
- Koob GF, Kreek MJ. 2007. Stress, dysregulation of drug reward pathways, and the transition to drug dependence. *Am. J. Psychiatry* 164:1149–59
- 67. Kraak V, Englund T, Zhou M, Duffey K. 2017. Branded marketing and media campaigns to support a healthy diet in the United States, 1999–2016: insights to inform the Partnership for a Healthier America's Fruits & Veggies (FNV) Campaign. Rep., Virginia Tech, Blacksburg, VA
- Kraak V, Englund T, Zhou M, Duffey K. 2018. Evaluation summary. Four studies conducted for the Partnership for a Healthier America's Fruits & Veggies (FNV) Campaign in California and Virginia, 2015–2017. Rep., Virginia Tech, Blacksburg, VA
- Lacroix E, Tavares H, von Ranson KM. 2018. Moving beyond the 'eating addiction' versus 'food addiction' debate: comment on Schulte et al. (2017). *Appetite* 130(1):286–92
- Lazzarino GP, Florencia AM, Guillermina C, Florencia AM, Guillermo RJ. 2019. Cafeteria diet induces progressive changes in hypothalamic mechanisms involved in food intake control at different feeding periods in female rats. *Mol. Cell. Endocrinol.* 498:110542
- 71. Le Houezee J. 2003. Role of nicotine pharmacokinetics in nicotine addiction and nicotine replacement therapy: a review. *Int. J. Tuberc. Lung Dis.* 7:811–19
- 72. Lennerz B, Lennerz JK. 2018. Food addiction, high-glycemic-index carbohydrates, and obesity. *Clin. Chem.* 64:64–71
- 73. Lennerz BS, Alsop DC, Holsen LM, Stern E, Rojas R, et al. 2013. Effects of dietary glycemic index on brain regions related to reward and craving in men. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 98:641–47
- 74. Lopez-Quintero C, de los Cobos JP, Hasin DS, Okuda M, Wang S, et al. 2011. Probability and predictors of transition from first use to dependence on nicotine, alcohol, cannabis, and cocaine: results of the National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions (NESARC). Drug Alcohol Depend. 115:120–30
- Malika NM, Hayman LW Jr., Miller AL, Lee HJ, Lumeng JC. 2015. Low-income women's conceptualizations of food craving and food addiction. *Eat. Behav.* 18:25–29
- 76. Marketdata. 2019. The U.S. Weight Loss & Diet Control Market. Tampa, FL: Marketdata
- 77. Marlatt GA, Witkiewitz K. 2002. Harm reduction approaches to alcohol use: health promotion, prevention, and treatment. *Addict. Behav.* 27:867–86
- Martin CB, Herrick KA, Sarafrazi N, Ogden C. 2018. Attempts to lose weight among adults in the United States, 2013–2016. NCHS data brief, 313, National Center for Health Statistics, Hyattsville, MD

- McCutcheon JE, Beeler JA, Roitman MF. 2012. Sucrose-predictive cues evoke greater phasic dopamine release than saccharin-predictive cues. Synapse 66:346–51
- Meule A, Gearhardt AN. 2014. Five years of the Yale Food Addiction Scale: taking stock and moving forward. *Curr. Addict. Rep.* 1:193–205
- Meule A, Gearhardt AN. 2019. Ten years of the Yale Food Addiction Scale: a review of version 2.0. *Curr:* Addict. Rep. 6:218–28
- Monro J. 2003. Redefining the glycemic index for dietary management of postprandial glycemia. J. Nutr. 133:4256–58
- Monteiro CA, Cannon G, Moubarac JC, Levy RB, Louzada MLC, Jaime PC. 2018. The UN decade of nutrition, the NOVA food classification and the trouble with ultra-processing. *Public Health Nutr*. 21:5–17
- Montesi L, El Ghoch M, Brodosi L, Calugi S, Marchesini G, Dalle Grave R. 2016. Long-term weight loss maintenance for obesity: a multidisciplinary approach. *Diabetes Metab. Syndr. Obes.* 9:37–46
- Morris MJ, Na ES, Johnson AK. 2008. Salt craving: the psychobiology of pathogenic sodium intake. *Physiol. Behav.* 94:709–21
- Myers MG, Cowley MA, Münzberg H. 2008. Mechanisms of leptin action and leptin resistance. Annu. Rev. Physiol. 70:537–56
- Naleid AM, Grace MK, Chimukangara M, Billington CJ, Levine AS. 2007. Paraventricular opioids alter intake of high-fat but not high-sucrose diet depending on diet preference in a binge model of feeding. *Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol.* 293:R99–105
- Nathan PE, Conrad M, Skinstad AH. 2016. History of the concept of addiction. Annu. Rev. Clin. Psychol. 12:29–51
- Oswald KD, Murdaugh DL, King VL, Boggiano MM. 2011. Motivation for palatable food despite consequences in an animal model of binge eating. *Int. J. Eat. Disord.* 44:203–11
- Page KA, Seo D, Belfort-DeAguiar R, Lacadie C, Dzuira J, et al. 2011. Circulating glucose levels modulate neural control of desire for high-calorie foods in humans. *J. Clin. Invest.* 121:4161–69
- Pursey KM, Collins CE, Stanwell P, Burrows TL. 2015. Foods and dietary profiles associated with 'food addiction' in young adults. *Addict. Behav. Rep.* 2:41–48
- Pursey KM, Contreras-Rodriguez O, Collins CE, Stanwell P, Burrows TL. 2019. Food addiction symptoms and amygdala response in fasted and fed states. *Nutrients* 11:1285
- Rabinoff M, Caskey N, Rissling A, Park C. 2007. Pharmacological and chemical effects of cigarette additives. Am. J. Public Health 97:1981–91
- 94. Racz I. 2014. Neuroplastic changes in addiction. Front. Mol. Neurosci. 6:56
- Rauber F, Chang K, Vamos EP, da Costa Louzada ML, Monteiro CA, et al. 2021. Ultra-processed food consumption and risk of obesity: a prospective cohort study of UK Biobank. *Eur. J. Nutr.* 60:2169–80
- Roberto CA, Lawman HG, LeVasseur MT, Mitra N, Peterhans A, et al. 2019. Association of a beverage tax on sugar-sweetened and artificially sweetened beverages with changes in beverage prices and sales at chain retailers in a large urban setting. *JAMA* 321:1799–810
- Robinson MJ, Burghardt PR, Patterson CM, Nobile CW, Akil H, et al. 2015. Individual differences in cue-induced motivation and striatal systems in rats susceptible to diet-induced obesity. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 40:2113–23
- 98. Robinson TE, Berridge KC. 2001. Incentive-sensitization and addiction. Addiction 96:103-14
- 99. Rogers PJ, Smit HJ. 2000. Food craving and food "addiction": a critical review of the evidence from a biopsychosocial perspective. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 66:3–14
- 100. Room R, Babor T, Rehm J. 2005. Alcohol and public health. Lancet 365:519-30
- Rothemund Y, Preuschhof C, Bohner G, Bauknecht HC, Klingebiel R, et al. 2007. Differential activation of the dorsal striatum by high-calorie visual food stimuli in obese individuals. *Neuroimage* 37:410–21
- Schiestl ET, Gearhardt AN. 2018. Preliminary validation of the Yale Food Addiction Scale for Children 2.0: a dimensional approach to scoring. *Eur. Eat. Disord. Rev.* 26:605–17
- Schulte EM, Avena NM, Gearhardt AN. 2015. Which foods may be addictive? The roles of processing, fat content, and glycemic load. PLOS ONE 10:e0117959
- Schulte EM, Gearhardt AN. 2017. Development of the modified Yale Food Addiction Scale version 2.0. Eur. Eat. Disord. Rev. 25:302–8

- 105. Schulte EM, Gearhardt AN. 2018. Associations of food addiction in a sample recruited to be nationally representative of the United States. *Eur. Eat. Disord. Rev.* 26:112–19
- Schulte EM, Potenza MN, Gearhardt AN. 2017. A commentary on the "eating addiction" versus "food addiction" perspectives on addictive-like food consumption. *Appetite* 115:9–15
- Schulte EM, Potenza MN, Gearhardt AN. 2018. Specific theoretical considerations and future research directions for evaluating addictive-like eating as a substance-based, food addiction: comment on Lacroix et al. (2018). *Appetite* 130:293–95
- 108. Schulte EM, Smeal JK, Gearhardt AN. 2017. Foods are differentially associated with subjective effect report questions of abuse liability. *PLOS ONE* 12:e0184220
- Schulte EM, Sonneville KR, Gearhardt AN. 2019. Subjective experiences of highly processed food consumption in individuals with food addiction. *Psychol. Addict. Behav.* 33:144–53
- Schulte EM, Yokum S, Jahn A, Gearhardt AN. 2019. Food cue reactivity in food addiction: a functional magnetic resonance imaging study. *Physiol. Behav.* 208:112574
- 111. Sinha R. 2001. How does stress increase risk of drug abuse and relapse? Psychopharmacology 158:343-59
- 112. Sinha R, Jastreboff AM. 2013. Stress as a common risk factor for obesity and addiction. *Biol. Psychiatry* 73:827–35
- 113. Small DM, DiFeliceantonio AG. 2019. Processed foods and food reward. Science 363:346-47
- Smith DG, Robbins TW. 2013. The neurobiological underpinnings of obesity and binge eating: a rationale for adopting the food addiction model. *Biol. Psychiatry* 73:804–10
- 115. Stanton RA. 2015. Food retailers and obesity. Curr. Obes. Rep. 4:54-59
- 116. Steele EM, Baraldi LG, da Costa Louzada ML, Moubarac J-C, Mozaffarian D, Monteiro CA. 2016. Ultra-processed foods and added sugars in the US diet: evidence from a nationally representative crosssectional study. *BM7 Open* 6:e009892
- 117. Stellman SD, Garfinkel L. 1986. Artificial sweetener use and one-year weight change among women. *Prev. Med.* 15:195–202
- Stice E, Spoor S, Bohon C, Veldhuizen MG, Small DM. 2008. Relation of reward from food intake and anticipated food intake to obesity: a functional magnetic resonance imaging study. *J. Abnorm. Psychol.* 117:924–35
- 119. Stice E, Spoor S, Ng J, Zald DH. 2009. Relation of obesity to consummatory and anticipatory food reward. *Physiol. Behav.* 97:551–60
- 120. Stolerman IP, Jarvis M. 1995. The scientific case that nicotine is addictive. Psychopharmacology 117:2-10
- 121. Stouffer MA, Woods CA, Patel JC, Lee CR, Witkovsky P, et al. 2015. Insulin enhances striatal dopamine release by activating cholinergic interneurons and thereby signals reward. *Nat. Commun.* 6:8543
- 122. Strachan MW, Ewing FM, Frier BM, Harper A, Deary IJ. 2004. Food cravings during acute hypoglycaemia in adults with Type 1 diabetes. *Physiol. Behav.* 80:675–82
- 123. Stuber GD, Hopf FW, Tye KM, BT Chen, Bonci A. 2010. Neuroplastic alterations in the limbic system following cocaine or alcohol exposure. *Curr: Top. Behav. Neurosci.* 3:3–27
- 124. Sullivan S, Stein R, Jonnalagadda S, Mullady D, Edmundowicz S. 2013. Aspiration therapy leads to weight loss in obese subjects: a pilot study. *Gastroenterology* 145:1245–52.e5
- 125. Swinburn BA, Kraak VI, Allender S, Atkins VJ, Baker PI, et al. 2019. The global syndemic of obesity, undernutrition, and climate change: *The Lancet* Commission report. *Lancet* 393:791–846
- 126. Taillie LS, Reyes M, Colchero MA, Popkin B, Corvalán C. 2020. An evaluation of Chile's Law of Food Labeling and Advertising on sugar-sweetened beverage purchases from 2015 to 2017: a before-and-after study. PLOS Med. 17:e1003015
- Talhout R, Opperhuizen A, Van Amsterdam JGC. 2006. Sugars as tobacco ingredient: effects on mainstream smoke composition. *Food Chem. Toxicol.* 44:1789–98
- 128. Tanofsky-Kraff M, McDuffie JR, Yanovski SZ, Kozlosky M, Schvey NA, et al. 2009. Laboratory assessment of the food intake of children and adolescents with loss of control eating. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 89:738–45
- 129. Tran H, Poinsot P, Guillaume S, Delaunay D, Bernetiere M, et al. 2020. Food addiction as a proxy for anorexia nervosa severity: new data based on the Yale Food Addiction Scale 2.0. *Psychiatry Res.* 293:113472

- 130. Tsai AG, Wadden TA. 2005. Systematic review: an evaluation of major commercial weight loss programs in the United States. *Ann. Intern. Med.* 142:56–66
- Vandevijvere S, Jaacks LM, Monteiro CA, Moubarac JC, Girling-Butcher M, et al. 2019. Global trends in ultraprocessed food and drink product sales and their association with adult body mass index trajectories. *Obes. Rev.* 20(Suppl. 2):10–19
- 132. Volkow ND, Li T-K. 2005. The neuroscience of addiction. Nat. Neurosci. 8:1429-30
- 133. Volkow ND, Morales M. 2015. The brain on drugs: from reward to addiction. Cell 162:712-25
- Volkow ND, Wang GJ, Fowler JS, Telang F. 2008. Overlapping neuronal circuits in addiction and obesity: evidence of systems pathology. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B* 363:3191–200
- Volkow ND, Wang GJ, Fowler JS, Tomasi D, Baler R. 2012. Food and drug reward: overlapping circuits in human obesity and addiction. *Curr. Top. Bebav. Neurosci.* 11:1–24
- Volkow ND, Wang GJ, Tomasi D, Baler RD. 2013. The addictive dimensionality of obesity. *Biol. Psychiatry* 73:811–18
- Vollstädt-Klein S, Wichert S, Rabinstein J, Bühler M, Klein O, et al. 2010. Initial, habitual and compulsive alcohol use is characterized by a shift of cue processing from ventral to dorsal striatum. *Addiction* 105:1741–49
- Weisler RH. 2007. Review of long-acting stimulants in the treatment of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. *Expert Opin. Pharmacother*. 8:745–58
- Weltens N, Zhao D, Van Oudenhove L. 2014. Where is the comfort in comfort foods? Mechanisms linking fat signaling, reward, and emotion. *Neurogastroenterol. Motil.* 26:303–15
- Yang Q. 2010. Gain weight by "going diet?" Artificial sweeteners and the neurobiology of sugar cravings. Yale J. Biol. Med. 83:101–8
- 141. Zhang M, Gosnell BA, Kelley AE. 1998. Intake of high-fat food is selectively enhanced by *mu* opioid receptor stimulation within the nucleus accumbens. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 285:908–14
- Zhang M, Kelley AE. 2000. Enhanced intake of high-fat food following striatal mu-opioid stimulation: microinjection mapping and Fos expression. *Neuroscience* 99:267–77
- 143. Zheng H, Lenard N, Shin A, Berthoud H-R. 2009. Appetite control and energy balance regulation in the modern world: Reward-driven brain overrides repletion signals. *Int. 7. Obes.* 33:S8–13
- 144. Ziauddeen H, Fletcher PC. 2013. Is food addiction a valid and useful concept? Obes. Rev. 14:19-28